

AGREEMENT BETWEEN
THE HARTFORD BOARD OF EDUCATION

AND

THE HARTFORD PRINCIPALS' AND
SUPERVISORS' ASSOCIATION

LOCAL NO 22, AFSA, AFL-CIO

July 1, ~~2019~~2022 – June 30, ~~2022~~2025

For the Hartford Board of Education: _____ For the Hartford Principals' and
_____ Supervisors' Association

Its Attorney _____ Its Representative

7330146v1

10686362v.2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I	RECOGNITION.....	1
ARTICLE II	BOARD PREROGATIVES	1
ARTICLE III	PROFESSIONAL STATUS	2
ARTICLE IV	SALARIES AND RELATED BENEFITS.....	3
ARTICLE V	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	5 <u>6</u>
ARTICLE VI	SABBATICAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE.....	8 <u>9</u>
ARTICLE VII	MISCELLANEOUS.....	10
ARTICLE VIII	UNION SECURITY	12
ARTICLE IX	LEAVES OF ABSENCE.....	12
ARTICLE X	TRANSPORTATION ALLOWANCE.....	14 <u>15</u>
ARTICLE XI	JOB DESCRIPTION	15
ARTICLE XII	FAIR PRACTICES.....	15
ARTICLE XIII	PERSONNEL FILES AND EVALUATIONS.....	15 <u>16</u>
ARTICLE XIV	SCHEDULED EARLY DISMISSAL DAYS	16 <u>17</u>
ARTICLE XV	TRANSFER PROCEDURE AFTER ELIMINATION OF UNIT POSITIONS	17
ARTICLE XVI	JOB ACTIONS, LOCKOUT, PARTIES TO COMMUNICATE.....	19
ARTICLE XVII	SPECIAL ASSISTANT TO THE SUPERINTENDENT	19
ARTICLE XVIII	COMMITMENT TO POSITION	19 <u>20</u>
ARTICLE XIX	DURATION	20
APPENDIX A	SALARY SCHEDULE EXPLANATION.....	22
APPENDIX B	28

**AGREEMENT
BETWEEN
THE HARTFORD BOARD OF EDUCATION
AND
THE HARTFORD PRINCIPALS' AND
SUPERVISORS' ASSOCIATION
LOCAL NO. 22, AFSA, AFL-CIO**

AGREEMENT in accordance with the provisions of Connecticut General Statutes § 10-153 the HARTFORD BOARD OF EDUCATION (hereinafter referred to as the "Board") and the HARTFORD PRINCIPALS' AND SUPERVISORS' ASSOCIATION, LOCAL NO. 22, AFSA, AFL-CIO (hereinafter referred to as the "HPSA").

**ARTICLE I
RECOGNITION**

- A. The Board recognizes the Hartford Principals' and Supervisors' Association, Local No. 22, AFSA, AFL-CIO as the exclusive bargaining representative of all those certified professional employees who are employed by the Board of Education of the City of Hartford and who are eligible for membership in the "administrators' unit" as defined in § 10-153b(a) et seq. of the Connecticut General Statutes with respect to salaries, hours and other conditions of employment. Nothing in this clause shall alter the rights of the parties under subsequent legislation regarding their bargaining relationship.

**ARTICLE II
BOARD PREROGATIVES**

It is recognized that the Board has and will continue to retain whether exercised or not, the sole and unquestioned right, responsibility and prerogative to direct the operation of the public schools in the City of Hartford in all its aspects, including but not limited to the following: to take all actions necessary to implement the ~~Strategic Plan~~[District Model for Excellence](#); to maintain public elementary and secondary schools and such other educational activities as in its judgment will best serve the interests of the City of Hartford; to give the children of Hartford as nearly equal advantages as may be practicable; to decide the need for school facilities; to determine the care, maintenance and operation of buildings, lands, apparatus and other property used for school purposes; to determine the number, age and qualifications of the pupils to be admitted into each school; to employ, assign, train, and transfer administrators; to suspend or dismiss the administrators of the schools in the manner provided by statute or ordinance; to designate the schools which shall be attended by the various children within the City; to make such provisions as will enable each child of school age residing in the

City to attend school for the period required by law and provide for the transportation of children whenever it is reasonable and desirable; to prescribe rules for the management, studies, classification and discipline for the public schools; to decide the textbooks to be used; to make rules for the arrangement, use and safekeeping of the school libraries and to approve the books selected therefore and to approve plans for school buildings; to prepare and submit budgets to the City Council and, in its sole discretion, expend money appropriated by the City for maintenance of the schools, and to make such transfers of funds within the appropriated budget as it shall deem desirable. These rights, responsibilities and prerogatives are not subject to delegation in whole or in part, except that the same shall not be exercised in a manner inconsistent with or in violation of any of the specific terms and provisions of this Agreement. No action taken by the Board with respect to such rights, responsibilities and prerogatives, other than as there are specified provisions herein elsewhere contained, shall be subject to the grievance provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE III PROFESSIONAL STATUS

- A. It is recognized that the HPSA is composed of members of the Administration charged with interpreting and enforcing Board policies at the school or department level and as members of the profession have the interest of professionals in their work.

- B. The Superintendent of Schools shall meet monthly with bargaining unit members of the HPSA to discuss matters of educational policies and professional concern, as well as matters relating to the implementation of this Agreement. Policies adopted or maintained as a result of such meetings shall not be inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement nor shall they be contrary to Board policies or other bargaining unit Agreements. The HPSA will comply with any request by the Superintendent or his/her Superintendent level representative to meet with the officers or the duly designated representatives of the HPSA.
 - 1. The Committee of the HPSA for this purpose shall consist of three (3) to five (5) except that additional members can be brought in to speak on specific items of interest.

 - 2. The Superintendent shall meet in person or through his/her designated superintendent level representative and may include at the meeting such members of his/her administrative staff as he/she may desire.

3. The HPSA and the Superintendent will submit, at least one week in advance of such meetings, items which they wish to be placed on the agenda for discussion.
- C. Except in cases of emergency or unforeseen circumstances, reasonable efforts will be made to provide the agenda of each Board meeting to the HPSA at least 24 hours in advance.
- D. All administrators governed by this contract when grieved by a member of any other union in the performance of their duties shall be notified of the grievance hearing at a reasonable time before the hearing to prepare jointly a proper position but the administrators must keep the Office of ~~Labor and Legal Services~~Talent Management aware of grievances. Nothing in this section shall prevent the Office of ~~Labor and Legal Services~~Talent Management from departing from this procedure if, in the judgment of that office, such departure is warranted under the circumstances. If the Office of ~~Labor and Legal Services~~Talent Management has determined to depart from this procedure, the Administrator shall be so notified.
- E. If a multiday summer in-service session is planned, the summer in-service schedule (not to exceed 10 days) will be planned and implemented by the Superintendent. A final schedule shall be submitted to the Association on or before April 15th. Nothing in this paragraph shall be interpreted to prohibit the scheduling of one or more single days of in-service training in July and/or August, which may be mandatory for any administrator who is scheduled to work on the date of the training. In the event that the schedule is published after April 15th of each year, any administrator who has previously had a vacation approved shall not be required to attend the training.

**ARTICLE IV
SALARIES AND RELATED BENEFITS**

- A. The salary schedules are set forth in Appendix A.
- B. All administrators will be paid on a biweekly basis, on the twenty-six pay plan. The Board may require direct deposit and provision of electronic notification of pay at its discretion.
- C. Fringe benefits are set forth in Appendix B.
- D. Increases in an administrator's salary for any given year, including any increments or movement within the grid when applicable and general wage increases when applicable on the salary schedule are not to be considered as

automatic, but will be based on satisfactory evaluations as determined by the Superintendent or his/her designee. If no evaluation of any kind is made pursuant to the board of education's evaluation process on an administrator, he or she shall receive any salary increase, including general wage increase and any increments or movement within the grid to which he or she would otherwise be entitled, in any year in which increments or movement within the grid are granted.

- E. Placement on the salary schedule shall be in accordance with proper grid placement according to the position the administrator holds.
- F. In determining the initial placement on the salary schedule for administrators new to Hartford, credit may be granted for similar experience in other communities and the administrator shall be placed on the appropriate step of the salary schedule.
- G. Any administrator who is officially promoted (on a non-acting basis) to a position which is at a higher grid level than the position he or she held prior to the promotion shall be placed on that step of the salary grid which guarantees him/her a dollar amount of at least two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500). In addition, such administrator shall be entitled to an additional increment on the new salary schedule on July 1st if (a) such administrator was appointed to such promotional position prior to January 1st or if (b) such administrator's new salary in the promotional position is not higher than the prior salary by a dollar amount equal to at least five thousand dollars (\$5,000) (on the salary grid of the position formerly held by the administrator). In no instance shall the administrator's new salary be higher than the maximum set forth on the salary schedule for such promotional position. An Assistant Principal or Dean who is promoted to a position of Principal shall receive an increase of at least seven thousand dollars (\$7,000) when being placed on the range.
- H. The parties recognize that the Superintendent may assign additional duties and responsibilities to an administrator.
- I. If an administrator serves in a promotional position on an acting basis for more than 10 days, he or she shall be paid at the lowest step of the salary grid applicable to the promotional position that provides an increase to the administrator. When the employee leaves the acting position, he or she shall be returned to the salary applicable to his or her regular position.
- J. Whenever the Superintendent or the Board of Education alters the terms or conditions of employment of a bargaining unit member to the extent that

impact bargaining is required by law, the parties shall bargain over the impact of such change. This provision shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

- K. No administrator shall be disciplined or reprimanded in writing or suspended without pay without just cause. If an administrator is to be formally disciplined, reprimanded or suspended without pay, he/she shall be entitled to receive a statement of the reasons in writing, be allowed to explain his/her position on the matter, and to have a representative of the HPSA be present if he/she so desires.

Discipline shall normally proceed in the following order:

- (a) Verbal warning reduced to writing
- (b) Written warning
- (c) Suspension without pay
- (d) Discharge

The parties recognize and agree that certain infractions of a serious nature require immediate serious disciplinary action without recourse to progressive discipline.

- L. An administrator placed in a position with a lower salary than his or her prior position shall be paid the salary of the prior position for one hundred and twenty days. Thereafter the administrator shall be paid the rate on the grid for his or her new position commensurate with his or her years of experience. This provision shall not apply to position eliminations as discussed in Article XV. Instead, Article XV(G) shall apply where a member's position has been eliminated.
- M. The Administration may offer "signing stipends" to prospective internal and external applicants or transfers (voluntary or involuntary) for appointment (permanent or acting) to positions in the bargaining unit or work stipends for bargaining unit members. The signing stipends or work stipends to bargaining unit members shall be in an amount not to exceed twenty percent of the base annual salary. The Administration can place conditions on the provision of the stipend, such as commitment to position, if such is clear and voluntary. This provision shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.
- N. The Administration may offer, in its sole discretion, a moving/relocation stipend to new hires in an amount not to exceed \$10,000. This provision shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

**ARTICLE V
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

A. Definition

A grievance shall mean a complaint by an employee that he/she has been subjected to arbitrary, or capricious policy or practice or that his/her rights under the specific language of the Board policy manual or this Agreement have been violated or that as to him/her there is a misinterpretation or misapplication of the specific provisions of the Board policy manual or of this Agreement, or a claim that there has been a failure to follow the procedure of the District's evaluation plan. As used in this Article, the term "employee" shall mean either: (1) an individual employee; (2) a group of employees having the same grievance, or (3) the HPSA. Grievances brought by the HPSA shall be brought in the name of the aggrieved, or in the name of its president, where the complaint involves more than one school. The grievance shall remain as presented in writing at the first step of the procedure and the nature of the grievance shall not be changed during the grievance process.

“Work days,” for purposes of this Article, shall mean any day that the district (Central Office) is open.

Step 1: A bargaining unit member must submit his/her grievance in writing and such grievance must be received by the immediate supervisor within ten (10) work days of the date when the events giving rise to the grievance occurred. The timeline for a grievance involving the procedural aspects of a yearly evaluation begins from the date when he/she received his/her end of year evaluation. Such submission shall be made to the immediate supervisor for a satisfactory adjustment. The written grievance must indicate the specific nature of the grievance and the contract provision(s) alleged to be violated. Such immediate supervisor may request a meeting with the bargaining unit member prior to making his/her decision, but in any event must render his/her decision within ten (10) work days of the submission. The bargaining unit member may be accompanied by a HPSA representative if he/she so desires at any such meeting.

Nothing in this provision shall prohibit a bargaining unit member from informally discussing his/her problem with the involved supervisor, prior to filing a grievance. However, the time limits for filing the initial grievance may only be waived or extended by written agreement between the Superintendent (or specified designee) and the HPSA President (or designee).

Step 2: If no satisfactory settlement is reached after presentation of the grievance at Step 1, the grievance may be pursued by the Union to the Superintendent or his/her designee by providing the Superintendent or his/her designee with a copy of such

grievance and requesting a meeting in writing, within ten (10) work days of the decision of the Supervisor at Step 1 or not later than ten (10) work days following the expiration of the time limits for making such a decision, whichever shall occur first. The Superintendent or his/her designee will schedule a meeting with the Grievant to attempt to resolve the issues related to the grievance within twenty (20) work days following the bargaining unit member's filing the grievance with the Superintendent or his/her designee. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall have ten (10) work days after holding the meeting to issue a written decision. A copy of the decision shall be provided to both the Grievant, if a Grievant was present at the meeting, and the HPSA.

Step 3: In the event that a grievance involving the application or interpretation of the specific provisions of this Agreement is not settled at Step 1 or Step 2, then the HPSA may seek arbitration of the grievance. No bargaining unit member may file for arbitration as an individual, but only the HPSA may file an appeal to arbitration hereunder. The HPSA's request for arbitration shall be in writing and must be filed with the American Arbitration Association with a copy to the Superintendent or his/her designee within ten (10) work days after the receipt of Superintendent's (or his/her designee's) decision at Step 2 or not later than ten (10) work days following the expiration of the time limits for making such a decision, whichever shall occur first.

Neither any provisions of this Agreement which are stated as a matter of policy nor the promulgation of a new or amended Board policy nor any grievance based upon a policy of the Board nor any complaint by an employee that he/she has been subjected to an arbitrary or capricious policy or practice shall be subject to arbitration. The decision of the Superintendent or his/her designee regarding such grievances shall be final.

The decision of the arbitrator(s) shall be final and binding upon both parties, except as otherwise provided by law. The arbitrator shall have no power to add to, delete from, or modify in any way the provisions of this Agreement.

B. General Provisions

1. The specific provision(s) of the Agreement which are alleged to have been violated in the matter must be identified in the submission.

2. The parties shall share equally in the general cost of the arbitration, including the arbitrator's fee, but shall be responsible for bearing their own respective costs associated with the arbitration process. If a postponement is necessary for one party, that party must pay the postponement fee. If the parties mutually agree to a postponement, they shall share equally the costs of any such fee.

3. In the event that the Board's representative does not provide the HPSA with a timely response to the grievance following the meeting of the parties or if the meeting is not scheduled within the timelines described above, the bargaining unit member or, if appropriate, the HPSA may proceed with the next step of the grievance procedure provided that the HPSA or the bargaining unit member, if appropriate, does so within the specific time limits set forth above.

4. Any grievance, as defined above, not presented for disposition through the grievance procedure described above within ten (10) work days of the date when the events giving rise to the grievance occurred, shall not thereafter be considered a grievance under this Agreement. Failure at any step of this procedure to communicate a decision within the specified time limits shall permit the aggrieved to proceed immediately to the next step. Failure at any step to appeal within the specified time limits shall be considered acceptance by the aggrieved of the decision rendered or an acceptance of a denial, if no decision was rendered, and such decision/denial shall thereafter be binding upon the aggrieved and the HPSA. The time limits specified at any step after Step 1 may be extended in any particular instance by written agreement signed by both the Superintendent or his/her designee and an officer of the HPSA.

5. Grievances arising from the action of an official other than the immediate supervisor shall be filed with the involved administrator.

6. Meetings held under this procedure shall be conducted at a time and place, which will afford a fair and reasonable opportunity to attend for all persons proper to be present. When such meetings are held during the work hours, all persons who participate shall be excused without loss of pay for that purpose. Persons proper to be present for the purposes of this section are defined as the grievant or grievant(s) and their appropriate HPSA representative. Qualified witnesses shall also be permitted to attend meetings, but only for the duration of such witness' testimony.

7. The HPSA will be notified, in advance, of the time and location of grievance meetings held by the Superintendent or his/her designee.

8. The HPSA shall have the right to initiate a grievance or appeal from the disposition of a grievance of any bargaining unit member or group of members at any step of this procedure.

ARTICLE VI
SABBATICAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Sabbatical leave may be granted to one administrator for each year of the contract.

1. Purpose: Sabbatical leaves for administrators are granted for professional improvement only, and these leaves are only for purposes designed to benefit the school system. These leaves are not a right, but rather a privilege or a reward for superior service.
2. Duration of Leave: Sabbatical leave in the Hartford School System is granted for a full year or for a full semester. It is not granted for a portion of a semester. When sabbatical leave is granted, in general it shall last from July 1st to June 30th.
3. Eligibility: No administrator can be granted a sabbatical leave unless he/she has completed seven (7) years of continuous service as an administrator in the Hartford School System.
4. Process of Selection: All candidates for sabbatical leave for the school year or for either semester should apply, in writing, to the Office of Talent Management on or before the third Monday in April. Each applicant is required to present, in writing, a carefully elaborated plan of study or a project, the successful completion of which will promise real benefit both to the employee and to the Hartford School System.

Candidates are selected by a committee of three appointed by the Superintendent. In granting leaves, the Committee gives preference to an administrator who gives promise of a considerable number of years of service in the Hartford School System.

5. Requirements to be met: Administrators who are granted leaves are required at the conclusion of their leaves to return to the Hartford School System and continue in Hartford service for not less than two years. They must submit a written agreement to the effect that if they do not return to Hartford service upon termination of leaves, they will refund all sums of money paid them by the Board of Education during their sabbatical leaves within a six month period. Unusual cases are presented to the Board for review.

Upon completion of sabbatical leaves, administrators are required to submit to the ~~Assistant Superintendent~~[Office of Talent Management](#) a written report on the work completed while on leave. These reports are included in their personnel folders.

6. Financial Arrangements: Administrators on sabbatical leave receive the difference between their regular salary and the salary paid their replacement. However, in cases of administrators with legal dependents (spouse and children only, said spouse not being gainfully employed during the year of leave), there is provided an additional (family) allowance of \$1,000 per dependent. Whenever administrators are awarded fellowships by universities or foundations, consideration is given to the size of grant given these administrators by the universities or foundations involved and the Superintendent will determine the appropriate amount to be paid them while on sabbatical leave, not to exceed, in combination with the foregoing, their regular salary. Administrators who are granted sabbatical leave must agree not to accept gainful employment while on leave. Exceptions may be made by the Superintendent if the administrator on leave is granted a college or university fellowship involving a minor teaching assignment. In such cases, the Superintendent will recommend, for Board consideration and approval, an appropriate financial adjustment.

7. Return to System: The administrator and the Board or designee may agree prior to the granting of the sabbatical leave that upon return to the school system from a sabbatical leave, the person shall be reassigned to his/her position with credit on the salary grid for that year spent on sabbatical, providing the person has notified the ~~proper Board Administrator~~Office of Talent Management of his/her intention to return prior to June 1st of the year of his/her return. Any condition that might affect such reassignment such as job elimination or transfer shall be made in accordance with the terms of this contract.

ARTICLE VII MISCELLANEOUS

- A. Where practicable, it shall be the policy to consult members of the bargaining unit on the assignment of personnel to his/her school or citywide department affected by the assignment.

- B. Whenever a regular calendar school day is shortened in length, delayed in opening, or entirely closed down because of an emergency situation, which is unforeseen (such as a snow day, heat loss, etc.), the school administrators, principal and/or assistant principal, as usual, will be responsible for checking their buildings, although they may or may not be at the building site all day using their own judgment and directing staff accordingly.

C. Administrative Vacancies

1. All administrative vacancies that are to be filled by permanent appointment shall be posted for a minimum of two (2) calendar weeks before a permanent appointment is made. Posting shall not be required if the School Governance Council (“SGC”) recommends and the Superintendent accepts an Acting or Associate Principal for a permanent principal’s position at that school. In addition, the Administration shall be permitted to exempt one position per fiscal year from the posting process with simultaneous notice to the Union; and further, the Board may request a waiver of the posting process from the Union President in cases where the Board believes posting is not appropriate. Nothing herein shall prohibit general posting for a pool of candidates for dean and assistant principal positions provided that candidates are given the option to apply for all or only some of the positions which may be covered. The Board will make every effort to keep the Union apprised as soon as specific positions open which may be filled from the pool.
2. An administrative position will be filled on an acting basis when, in the opinion of the Superintendent, it best serves the interest of the Hartford School System. All initial and/or promotional appointments may, in the discretion of the Superintendent, be made as acting appointments for a period not to exceed one calendar year. During that time, acting administrators may be removed from their positions at any time, in the discretion of the Superintendent. An acting administrator has no right to the position at the end of the initial period of service in an acting capacity, unless he or she is selected as part of the process for filling vacancies. If an administrator is not selected for the position, he/she shall be returned to a position in the same classification as his/her previous position.
3. Reimbursement for Losses: The Board will allocate \$1,000 for the purpose of reimbursing administrators for loss, excluding cash, damage to personal property (other than motor vehicles) incurred while on school duty.

The Board will also allocate \$5,000 for the purpose of reimbursing administrators for damage to their motor vehicles while on school duty.

All reimbursements for the foregoing will be held until the end of the fiscal year at which time reimbursement will be made in full if the amount allocated is sufficient for such purpose. Otherwise, prorated

reimbursement will be made according to the demands on the respective funds.

In all cases, any such payments shall not duplicate those covered by the administrator's insurance. The administrator must submit a claim for loss through his/her insurance company, if any, and then submit the claim losses, which are not covered by his/her insurance to the Hartford Board of Education.

4. A copy of the collective bargaining agreement will be provided to all unit members.

ARTICLE VIII UNION SECURITY

Dues Deductions

Upon notice from the HPSA, the Board agrees to deduct via payroll dues for all members of the bargaining unit. The proper deduction will be made each month from the employee's salary and forwarded to the HPSA. Upon payment thereof to the HPSA, the Board shall be held free and harmless from any liability in handling such HPSA dues and may require a release from the HPSA.

The HPSA shall indemnify and hold the Board and City harmless against any and all claims, demands, liabilities and lawsuits, which may arise out of or by reason of actions taken by or against the Board or the City of Hartford as a result of the conditions of employment set forth in this article as well as the administration of the HPSA security agency fee provisions and check-off provisions of this article.

ARTICLE IX LEAVES OF ABSENCE

A. Pregnancy Disability

Any administrator who becomes pregnant shall so notify the Superintendent or his/her designee as soon as practicable. Leave shall begin when, in the opinion of her doctor, the administrator is no longer physically able to work. Except in those cases in which the federal Family and Medical leave Act ("FMLA") authorizes the Board to delay a return to work from a Pregnancy Disability Leave until the beginning of the subsequent semester or school year,

such a Leave shall expire when, in the opinion of her doctor, she is physically able to return to work. The administrator shall be assigned to a position within the same classification upon return.

B. Child-Rearing Leave

All administrators are entitled to Child-Rearing Leave in accordance with the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”). Any administrator who has acquired teacher tenure and is expecting a child or whose spouse is expecting a child, or who has firm plans to adopt a child in the immediate future, upon request, shall be granted leave for child-rearing purposes in excess of the FMLA requirements, as set forth in this paragraph, below. Such leave shall begin either at the expiration of Pregnancy Disability Leave or at the start or at the mid-point of the school year, and shall end either one-half or one full school year later. The administrator must inform the Office of Talent Management of his/her intent to return to service thirty (30) days before the end of the leave. Upon his/her return within one calendar year, the administrator shall be assigned to a position within the same classification.

C. Personal Leave

Employees shall be permitted absences, without loss of pay and with deduction from sick leave accumulation, up to a total of not more than five (5) days in any school year for any or all of the following:

- a. In the event of serious illness or death of spouse, father, mother, son, daughter, grandfather, grandmother, grandchildren, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister, brother, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, uncle, aunt, or child related by blood or marriage or member of his/her immediate household, not to exceed three (3) days in any school year;
- b. Holy days not to exceed three (3) days in any year;
- c. Quarantine;
- d. Absence for father for birth of child to mother or for adoption of child not to exceed two (2) days in any year;
- e. Temporary absence for personal reasons limited to situations not under control of the employee, which make such absence from service necessary. Prior approval must be given by the supervisor.

All requests for personal leave must be ~~made in writing to the supervisor~~entered into the automated absence management system. Each such request shall state, with specificity, the reason for the requested leave. Except in cases of emergency, such requests must be ~~received by~~entered into the ~~Supervisor~~automated absence management system no less than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the commencement of the requested leave.

If an administrator working an eleven month schedule has exhausted his/her personal leave and requests bereavement leave for an immediate family member, as defined above, the Superintendent or his/her designee, in his or her sole discretion, may grant such bereavement leave with or without pay. The decision of the Superintendent or designee with respect to the granting of the leave shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

D. Family & Medical Leave

Eligibility:

- a. Each employee covered by the federal Family and Medical Leave Act shall be entitled to take leaves of the type and to the extent allowed by the Act. Any other leaves provided for in this Agreement which are also covered by the federal Family and Medical Leave Act, as amended from time to time, shall be included in the entitlement provided by this section and shall not be in addition to such entitlement.
 - b. If an employee's spouse is also employed by the Board, the combined total number of weeks of leave to which both may be entitled under this Section for the birth or adoption of a child shall not exceed twelve weeks.
- E. If any provision in this Article conflicts with any state or federal statute at any time, the terms of the statute shall prevail.

Sections D and E are included for informational purposes only and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. The parties understand that members may enforce statutory rights through the Department of Labor.

**ARTICLE X
TRANSPORTATION ALLOWANCE**

All administrators covered by this Agreement who are required to use their own personal transportation during the workday shall be reimbursed at the IRS rate. Those approved for a “flat rate” shall receive sixty dollars (\$60.00) per month. Administrators using their own transportation shall add the Board as an additional named insured on their personal car insurance policy provided such addition does not result in an increase in cost to the administrator.

**ARTICLE XI
JOB DESCRIPTION**

Before a present administrative unit job description is changed or one written for a new position, the Superintendent or his/her designee shall share its contents with the HPSA prior to filling a new position or implementing a new job description.

**ARTICLE XII
FAIR PRACTICES**

- A. The Board and the Union agree not to unlawfully discriminate in the application of the terms of this contract against any teacher protected under state or federal discrimination laws, as may be amended from time-to-time.
- B. The Board and the Union agree that they shall not discriminate, engage in reprisals or punitive action against any grievant or member of the bargaining unit for his/her participation in or nonparticipation in any protected activity as set forth in Connecticut General Statutes, Sections 10-153a through 10-153r.
- C. The provisions of paragraphs A and B above reflect the parties’ understanding of their legal obligations. Any alleged violation of this paragraph shall be subject to resolution procedures established by law and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.
- D. Except as may be provided in Article IV(L), Article XV, and Article VII(C) no administrator shall be reduced involuntarily in status or pay without just cause.

ARTICLE XIII
PERSONNEL FILES AND EVALUATIONS

- A. 1. Administrators will be encouraged to place in the file information of a positive nature indicating special competencies, achievements, performances or contributions of an academic, professional or civic nature.
2. No anonymous letters or materials shall be placed in an administrator's personnel file.
3. Only a certified supervisor and/or personnel administrator shall submit critical material to the administrator's file.
- a. The administrator will be provided with a copy of the document that includes critical material prior to the document being submitted to the administrator's file.
- b. If, pursuant to the grievance process, a document containing critical material is ordered out of the file it will be removed from the administrator's personnel file.
4. Administrators shall be permitted to file grievances only regarding the process of evaluations, which shall proceed within ten days of the date when the administrator knew or should have known of the alleged violation.
- B. The administrator, upon request, has the right to review the contents of his/her personnel file at any time during the year provided that the time is mutually agreeable to both the employee and the ~~Executive Director of Human Resources~~Superintendent or his/her designee. This opportunity represents the implementation of the democratic concept that the individual has the right to be fully aware of any developments that concern his/her actions. A member of the staff of the Office of Talent Management shall be present at all times.
- C. The administrator has the right to reply to any document with a formal letter addressed to the Superintendent. This letter will be placed in the file.
- D. An administrator has the right to have reproduced any document in his/her personnel folder. The cost of reproducing such documents shall be paid by the administrator at the approximate cost to the Board.

**ARTICLE XIV
SCHEDULED EARLY DISMISSAL DAYS**

On those days scheduled to be early dismissal days for students, when teachers have completed their duties, the work day of the school administrators shall be in accordance with their work demands, provided that any request to leave by the principal has been approved in advance by the Superintendent or his/her designee.

**ARTICLE XV
TRANSFER PROCEDURE AFTER ELIMINATION OF UNIT POSITIONS**

The following system shall be employed when the Board determines that it is necessary to eliminate unit positions. This procedure shall in no way preclude the Superintendent from making any transfer or reassignment, subject to XII D, provided he or she may not transfer or reassign an administrator to a subordinate classification when a reduction in force situation is involved unless it is in accordance with the following procedure. Reduction in force and recall shall be based on seniority in the manner described in this article. Seniority shall be based on the date that an administrator was appointed to a bargaining unit position. In the case of a tie, total years of continuous service in the Hartford Public School System shall prevail. Sabbatical leave shall count toward seniority.

- A. If an administrator's position is eliminated, he/she shall have displacement (bumping) rights of other members with less seniority at the same school, location or department within the same exact position category/title if she/he has an equal to or higher rating on his/her most recent year-end evaluation. For example, an assistant principal can only bump a less senior assistant principal at the same school. The administrator may also displace a member with less seniority at the same school, location, or department in a lower classification if he/she meets the qualifications of the position as determined by the Administration and has an equal to or higher rating on his/her most recent year-end evaluation.

- B. Any displaced administrator who cannot exercise displacement rights shall be afforded an opportunity to meet with an administrator who is filling an administrative vacancy for which the displaced administrator is certified and qualified as determined by the Superintendent or designee. If the displaced administrator is not offered an administrative position, at any level, such administrator shall have pay continuation for the former administrative position for a period of ~~two~~one (21) calendar ~~years~~year. During such time, such displaced administrator shall continue his/her administrator work year even if placed in a non-administrative role(s). Salary continuation ceases upon

separation of services, voluntary placement in a position, demotion based on performance, or placement as an administrator.

Where a principal's position is eliminated and he/she has positive evaluations as defined in this Article, the principal shall be entitled to pay continuation even if placed in an administrative role for a period of ~~two years~~one year or until he/she is placed at any principal position or a higher level position, whichever occurs first. Salary continuation for principals also ceases upon separation of services, voluntary placement in any position, or demotion based on performance.

C. The determination of appropriate placement of displaced administrators will be made by the Superintendent or designee.

D. Recall

Any administrator who is reassigned pursuant to this provision shall be placed upon the recall list for ~~two~~one (~~2~~1) ~~years~~year. Any administrator who is laid off pursuant to this provision shall be placed upon the recall list for one (1) year. Should the displaced administrator's former position be re-created during the recall period, he/she shall have rights in order of seniority within the school, location or department site. If a lower level position is created at the same school, location or department site, the member shall have recall rights to such position subject to the Superintendent or designee's determination of qualifications.

E. Rights to Consideration for Positions

During the recall period, new vacancies within the bargaining unit that are at a pay classification/group equal to or less than the displaced member's pay continuation group, shall be filled first with members of the pool of displaced administrators on pay continuation. Such preference shall only apply if the administrator is certified, qualified, and has positive evaluations (under the current evaluation document, competent, accomplished or exemplary). Qualifications for a position are determined by Superintendent or designee. Vacancies may not be filled from outside the bargaining unit where qualified candidates remain on pay continuation status under this provision. Recent school based or district based experience can be considered as a qualification. There shall be no right to positions at a higher level than the administrator previously held as a permanent appointment. The HPSA shall be given the list of displaced administrators on request.

F. If the Administration decides to create an Associate Principal position, and the candidate selected is not a bargaining unit member or a member from the recall list, the Administration shall share with the Union President the basis for selecting the candidate. The decision to create the position and the choice

of the applicant shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. Nothing herein is meant to override Section E above.

- G. The salary of any administrator displaced in accordance with this section shall be in accordance with the grid placement of the position, ~~except for as specifically noted in this Section above.~~

**ARTICLE XVI
JOB ACTIONS, LOCKOUT, PARTIES TO COMMUNICATE**

- A. The HPSA and the Board agree that any differences between the parties on matters relating to the Agreement shall be settled by the means herein provided.
- B. The HPSA, in accordance with Connecticut law will not, during the term of this Agreement, engage in or condone any strike, work stoppage, or other concerted refusal to perform any assignment on the part of any employee represented hereunder.
- C. The Board of Education agrees that at no time will any administrator be locked out of his/her regular work place or from his/her regular work assignment by the Board in an effort to resolve a labor dispute.
- D. The parties recognize their right and obligation to engage in midstream impact bargaining under circumstances set forth in § 10-153f(e) of the Connecticut General Statutes. Nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted to broaden or narrow the parties' rights or obligations pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-153f(e).

**ARTICLE XVII
SPECIAL ASSISTANT TO THE SUPERINTENDENT**

The Superintendent or designee may grant a member, in his/her sole discretion, a one year leave of absence from the bargaining unit to hold a non-certified position, Special Assistant to the Superintendent. The member shall be credited with all bargaining rights upon his/her return to a bargaining unit position. Placement upon return shall be at the sole discretion of the Superintendent or designee.

ARTICLE XVIII COMMITMENT TO POSITION

Members joining the unit and ~~/or accepting a promotional opportunity have an obligation to continue in employment for at least two years after initial employment or after accepting a promotional opportunity.~~ — If a member chooses, absent compelling circumstances, to who separate service within the first ~~two years~~year after initial employment ~~or after accepting a promotional opportunity, the member shall~~may be liable to the Board to repay the full costs of any bonuses paid to the member during the ~~two years~~year preceding separation, including but not limited to any signing, moving, relocation, work or other bonus. ~~Further, paid to attract~~ the member ~~accepts this commitment as a moral and ethical obligation~~to the position.

If a member voluntarily chooses to separate service, he/she shall arrange for a satisfactory date of departure with his/her supervisor and if no such date is agreed upon shall provide at least sixty (60) days' notice for principals and at least thirty (30) days' notice for all other administrators. The Superintendent or designee may waive or modify this requirement upon request of the administrator. ~~Should the administrator fail to provide such notice, and if the reason for departure is to become an administrator in another district, he/she shall be liable for damages in the sum of one hundred dollars (\$100) per day for each day less than the applicable notice requirement, to be deducted from the administrators' final salary payment(s).~~

~~If a Resident Principal voluntarily leaves during residency, he/she shall pay the district \$5,000. If he/she voluntarily leaves the district to become an administrator in another district within two years of completion of residency, he/she shall agree by way of execution of a promissory note, to reimburse the district in the amount of \$10,000.~~

After completion of his/her third (3rd) continuous year serving in the role of principal for Hartford Schools, the Board shall contribute \$3,000 annually toward the Board's 403(b) plan in recognition of the principal's service. The principal shall be fully vested in such Board contribution after five (5) years of service as a principal. For all other members not eligible for the principal 403(b) benefit or a former principal working in another administrative position, after completion of his/her fifth (5th) year of service as an administrator for the for Hartford Schools, the Board shall contribute ~~\$500~~1,000 annually toward the Board's 403(b) plan in recognition of the administrator's service. The administrator shall be fully vested in such Board contribution after ~~seven~~five (75) years of service as an administrator. The Superintendent may withhold payment on a pro-rata basis based on departure from the district. If an administrator is moved to a teacher's position as a result of a reduction in force he/she shall not be eligible to receive this contribution by the Board while he/she is not in the bargaining unit.

**ARTICLE XIX
DURATION**

This Agreement shall be effective from July 1, ~~2019~~2022 through June 30, ~~2022~~2025.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands this ____ day of ~~January~~
~~2019~~ 20.

FOR THE HARTFORD
BOARD OF EDUCATION

FOR THE HARTFORD PRINCIPALS'
AND SUPERVISORS' ASSOCIATION,
LOCAL NO. 22, AFSA, AFL-CIO

By _____
Its Chair

By _____
Its President

APPENDIX A

SALARY SCHEDULE EXPLANATION

- A. For the purpose of this contract, the salary schedules are based on the following work years:

Schedule B - 213 working days: The administrator will work the week before the opening of school, the week after the close of school, plus additional workdays that add up to 213 workdays. This schedule is for all employees not working a 12-month year except deans, who will have a work year of 187 days except as otherwise agreed by the parties.

Schedule C – a twelve-month (12-month) work year: This work year entitles the employee to 24 vacation days annually (a pro-ration of 2 vacation days per month to those who are initially employed at a time other than July 1) and the following vacation days, on the dates designated by the Board:

New Year's Day
Three Kings' Day*
Martin Luther King Day
Presidents' Day
Good Friday
Memorial Day
Independence Day
Labor Day
Thanksgiving Day
Day after Thanksgiving
Christmas Day

If school is in session on a holiday, or if there is a failure to observe said holiday, the employee shall be granted compensatory time, a floating holiday, or pay in lieu thereof.

* Administrators will not report to work on this holiday when it falls during the school week and the Board's calendar recognizes it as a student holiday.

Closure/Shutdown

If the school, program or location to which the administrator is assigned is closed, and the Board has given the administrator at least sixty (60) calendar days' notice of anticipated closure at the school, program or location site, the administrator shall utilize vacation time during the period of closure. Such vacation time shall be deducted from the administrators' vacation leave accrual. In the event that sixty (60) calendar days' notice has not been given,

the administrator may complete his/her work day at a location to be determined by the Superintendent or designee. If a member has a specific project/job requirement that must be performed during the period of closure, he/she can request a waiver from his/her supervisor of this requirement. If a new member does not have sufficient vacation time accrued prior to the period of closure, he/she may borrow vacation time for this purpose.

In no case shall vacation payout be greater than twenty-four days.

The Parties understand and agree that twelve month school-based members shall be expected generally to take vacation time during school vacations and during the summer months. Additionally, snow days will automatically be treated as vacation days, to be deducted from accrued time, unless the person works at home or at the job site, with the approval of his/her supervisor. Members shall not generally take vacation time for the five days after the student year or for five days prior to the return of teachers. Further, members are expected to attend the summer institute, as discussed in Article III.

- B. A per-diem rate based on 223 workdays will be used for hiring, and additional workdays in accordance with Section C. A per-diem rate based on 260 workdays will be used for severance purposes for all sick leave days accumulated on or after July 1, 2002. The per-diem rate based on 223 workdays will be used for severance purposes for all sick leave days accumulated prior to July 1, 2002. Sick days will be charged first against days earned in that year, then to days accumulated after July 1, 2002, and then to days accumulated prior to July 1, 2002.

- C. Additional Workdays and Opportunities
 - 1. An administrator can be required by the Superintendent or the appropriate Assistant Superintendent to work additional days beyond his or her work year on necessary job related duties. This directive shall be given to the Administrator in writing.
 - 2. When an Administrator is required to work beyond his or her work year, the Administrator shall be paid on an hourly basis for hours worked and shall be guaranteed a minimum of four hours work each day.
 - 3. When postings are required, the salaries for posted extra work opportunities shall be listed on the posting.

4. In buildings to which another administrator is assigned, Principal may delegate this additional work in his/her sole discretion to another administrator.
5. For the purpose of calculating the hourly rate herein, the Administrator's annual salary shall be divided by 223 divided by eight.

D. Differential for Doctorate in Education

Each member with a Doctorate in Education from an accredited university shall be eligible for ~~an annual~~ salary differential of \$2,500, ~~at the conclusion of the year upon request and upon~~ added to their annual salary following initial demonstration that ~~he/she has~~ they have a Doctorate in Education. To be eligible, the member must provide the ~~Director~~ Office of ~~Staffing~~ Talent Management with an official transcript showing that the Doctorate in Education was awarded. This provision shall not be subject to the grievance procedure and arbitration provisions of the Agreement.

E. Grid Placement and Salary Year

The following schedule is for purposes of remuneration for positions that already exist in the bargaining unit. It is understood that positions may be created or eliminated by the Board of Education and that the Board reserves the right to transfer and assign bargaining unit members, except as limited by Article XV (Transfer Procedure After Elimination of Position).

July 1, 2019 - June 30, 2020

<u>Position</u>	<u>Group</u>	<u>Salary</u>		
K-8 Principal	1,2,3	\$126,748	-	\$144,286
9-12 Principal	4,5,6	\$132,536	-	\$155,861
Assistant Principal	7,8,9	\$115,669	-	\$129,558
Executive Principal	10	\$149,898	-	\$161,649
Assistant Director	11	\$121,456	-	\$129,558
Director	12	\$132,536	-	\$144,286
Executive/Senior Director	13	\$138,323	-	\$150,075
Administrative Intern	14,15	\$115,669	-	\$123,769 *
Resident/Associate Principal	16	Step 1 - \$123,848		Step 2 - \$127,321
Dean	17,18	\$101,549	-	\$113,744 **
Executive AP (12-month)	19	\$122,728	-	\$137,465

<u>Position</u>	<u>Group</u>	<u>Range Adjustment for those not on maximum</u>
K-8 Principal	1,2,3	\$4,858
9-12 Principal	4,5,6	\$6,461
Assistant Principal	7,8,9	\$3,847
Executive Principal	10	\$3,255
Assistant Director	11	\$2,244
Director	12	\$3,255
Executive/Senior Director	13	\$3,255
Administrative Intern	14,15	\$3,244
Dean	17,18	\$3,378
Executive AP (12-month)	19	\$4,082

July 1, 2022 - June 30, 2023

<u>Position</u>	<u>Group</u>	<u>Salary</u>		
<u>K-8 Principal</u>	<u>1,2,3</u>	<u>\$131,866</u>	<u>-</u>	<u>\$150,111</u>
<u>9-12 Principal</u>	<u>4,5,6</u>	<u>\$137,887</u>	<u>-</u>	<u>\$162,154</u>
<u>Assistant Principal</u>	<u>7,8,9</u>	<u>\$120,339</u>	<u>-</u>	<u>\$134,789</u>
<u>Executive Principal</u>	<u>10</u>	<u>\$155,950</u>	<u>-</u>	<u>\$168,175</u>
<u>Assistant Director</u>	<u>11</u>	<u>\$126,359</u>	<u>-</u>	<u>\$134,789</u>
<u>Director</u>	<u>12</u>	<u>\$137,887</u>	<u>-</u>	<u>\$150,111</u>
<u>Executive/Senior Director</u>	<u>13</u>	<u>\$143,908</u>	<u>-</u>	<u>\$156,134</u>
<u>Administrative Intern</u>	<u>14,15</u>	<u>\$120,339</u>	<u>-</u>	<u>\$128,766</u> *
<u>Resident/Associate Principal</u>	<u>16</u>	<u>Step 1 - \$128,848</u>		<u>Step 2 - \$132,462</u>
<u>Dean</u>	<u>17,18</u>	<u>\$105,649</u>	<u>-</u>	<u>\$118,337</u> **

<u>Executive AP (12 month)</u>	<u>19</u>	<u>\$127,683</u>	<u>-</u>	<u>\$143,016</u>
<u>Position</u>	<u>Group</u>	<u>Range Adjustment for those not on maximum</u>		
<u>K-8 Principal</u>	<u>1,2,3</u>	<u>\$5,054</u>		
<u>9-12 Principal</u>	<u>4,5,6</u>	<u>\$6,722</u>		
<u>Assistant Principal</u>	<u>7,8,9</u>	<u>\$4,003</u>		
<u>Executive Principal</u>	<u>10</u>	<u>\$3,386</u>		
<u>Assistant Director</u>	<u>11</u>	<u>\$2,335</u>		
<u>Director</u>	<u>12</u>	<u>\$3,386</u>		
<u>Executive/Senior Director</u>	<u>13</u>	<u>\$3,387</u>		
<u>Administrative Intern</u>	<u>14,15</u>	<u>\$2,334</u>		
<u>Resident/Associate Principal</u>	<u>16</u>	<u>\$3,614</u>		
<u>Dean</u>	<u>17,18</u>	<u>\$3,515</u>		
<u>Executive AP (12 month)</u>	<u>19</u>	<u>\$4,247</u>		

Administrators responsible for grades 9, 10, 11 or 12 shall be considered in the 9-12 category for salary purposes.

There shall be ~~no general wage increase effective July 1, 2019. There shall be no movement within the range for those who have not reached maximum and no step movement for Resident and Associate Principals.~~ a 1.50% general wage increase effective July 1, 2022. There shall be movement within the range (range adjustment) for those who have not reached maximum (not to exceed maximum) and step movement for Resident and Associate Principals.

~~* There are 213 day and 12 month positions.~~

~~** Dean shall include 187 day deans and grandfathered deans working a 212 day work year.~~

* There are 213 day and 12 month positions.

** Dean shall include 187 day deans and grandfathered deans working a 212 day work year.

July 1, 2020 - June 30, 2021

<u>Position</u>	<u>Group</u>	<u>Salary</u>		
K-8 Principal	1,2,3	\$126,748	-	\$144,286
9-12 Principal	4,5,6	\$132,536	-	\$155,861
Assistant Principal	7,8,9	\$115,669	-	\$129,558
Executive Principal	10	\$149,898	-	\$161,649
Assistant Director	11	\$121,456	-	\$129,558
Director	12	\$132,536	-	\$144,286
Executive/Senior Director	13	\$138,323	-	\$150,075
Administrative Intern	14,15	\$115,669	-	\$123,769 *
Resident/Associate Principal	16	Step 1 - \$123,848		Step 2 - \$127,321
Dean	17,18	\$101,549	-	\$113,744 **
Executive AP (12-month)	19	\$122,728	-	\$137,465

<u>Position</u>	<u>Group</u>	<u>Range Adjustment for those not on maximum</u>
K-8 Principal	1,2,3	\$4,858
9-12 Principal	4,5,6	\$6,461
Assistant Principal	7,8,9	\$3,847
Executive Principal	10	\$3,255
Assistant Director	11	\$2,244
Director	12	\$3,255
Executive/Senior Director	13	\$3,255
Administrative Intern	14,15	\$3,244
Dean	17,18	\$3,378
Executive AP (12-month)	19	\$4,082

July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2024

<u>Position</u>	<u>Group</u>	<u>Salary</u>		
K-8 Principal	1,2,3	\$133,844	=	\$152,363
9-12 Principal	4,5,6	\$139,955	=	\$164,586
Assistant Principal	7,8,9	\$122,144	=	\$136,811
Executive Principal	10	\$158,289	=	\$170,698
Assistant Director	11	\$128,254	=	\$136,811
Director	12	\$139,955	=	\$152,363
Executive/Senior Director	13	\$146,067	=	\$158,476
Administrative Intern	14,15	\$122,144	=	\$130,697 *
Resident/Associate Principal	16	Step 1 - \$130,781		Step 2 - \$134,449

<u>Dean</u>	<u>17,18</u>	<u>\$107,234</u>	<u>=</u>	<u>\$120,112</u>	<u>**</u>
<u>Executive AP (12 month)</u>	<u>19</u>	<u>\$129,598</u>	<u>=</u>	<u>\$145,161</u>	
<u>Position</u>	<u>Group</u>	<u>Range Adjustment for those not on maximum</u>			
<u>K-8 Principal</u>	<u>1,2,3</u>			<u>\$5,130</u>	
<u>9-12 Principal</u>	<u>4,5,6</u>			<u>\$6,823</u>	
<u>Assistant Principal</u>	<u>7,8,9</u>			<u>\$4,063</u>	
<u>Executive Principal</u>	<u>10</u>			<u>\$3,437</u>	
<u>Assistant Director</u>	<u>11</u>			<u>\$2,370</u>	
<u>Director</u>	<u>12</u>			<u>\$3,437</u>	
<u>Executive/Senior Director</u>	<u>13</u>			<u>\$3,437</u>	
<u>Administrative Intern</u>	<u>14,15</u>			<u>\$2,369</u>	
<u>Resident/Associate Principal</u>	<u>16</u>			<u>\$3,668</u>	
<u>Dean</u>	<u>17,18</u>			<u>\$3,567</u>	
<u>Executive AP (12 month)</u>	<u>19</u>			<u>\$4,311</u>	

Administrators responsible for grades 9, 10, 11 or 12 shall be considered in the 9-12 category for salary purposes.

There shall be ~~no~~ a 1.50% general wage increase effective July 1, ~~2020~~2023. There shall be ~~no~~ movement within the range (range adjustment) for those who have not reached maximum (not to exceed maximum) and ~~no~~ step movement for Resident and Associate Principals.

* There are 213 day and 12 month positions.

** Dean shall include 187 day deans and grandfathered deans working a 212 day work year.

July 1, 2021 - June 30, 2022

<u>Position</u>	<u>Group</u>	<u>Salary</u>		
K-8 Principal	1,2,3	\$129,917	-	\$147,893
9-12 Principal	4,5,6	\$135,849	-	\$159,758
Assistant Principal	7,8,9	\$118,561	-	\$132,797
Executive Principal	10	\$153,645	-	\$165,690
Assistant Director	11	\$124,492	-	\$132,797
Director	12	\$135,849	-	\$147,893
Executive/Senior Director	13	\$141,781	-	\$153,827
Administrative Intern	14,15	\$118,561	-	\$126,863 *
Resident/Associate Principal	16	Step 1 - \$126,944		Step 2 - \$130,504
Dean	17,18	\$104,088	-	\$116,588 **
Executive AP (12-month)	19	\$125,796	-	\$140,902

<u>Position</u>	<u>Group</u>	<u>Range Adjustment for those not on maximum</u>
K-8 Principal	1,2,3	\$5,231
9-12 Principal	4,5,6	\$6,958
Assistant Principal	7,8,9	\$4,143
Executive Principal	10	\$3,505
Assistant Director	11	\$2,417
Director	12	\$3,505
Executive/Senior Director	13	\$3,505
Administrative Intern	14,15	\$2,416
Dean	17,18	\$3,638
Executive AP (12-month)	19	\$4,396

July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2025

<u>Position</u>	<u>Group</u>	<u>Salary</u>		
K-8 Principal	1,2,3	\$135,852	-	\$154,648
9-12 Principal	4,5,6	\$142,054	-	\$167,055
Assistant Principal	7,8,9	\$123,976	-	\$138,863
Executive Principal	10	\$160,663	-	\$173,258
Assistant Director	11	\$130,178	-	\$138,863
Director	12	\$142,054	-	\$154,648
Executive/Senior Director	13	\$148,258	-	\$160,853
Administrative Intern	14,15	\$123,976	-	\$132,657 *
Resident/Associate Principal	16	Step 1 - \$132,743		Step 2 - \$136,466
Dean	17,18	\$108,843	-	\$121,914 **

<u>Executive AP (12 month)</u>	<u>19</u>	<u>\$131,542</u>	<u>-</u>	<u>\$147,338</u>
<u>Position</u>	<u>Group</u>	<u>Range Adjustment for those not on maximum</u>		
<u>K-8 Principal</u>	<u>1,2,3</u>			<u>\$5,206</u>
<u>9-12 Principal</u>	<u>4,5,6</u>			<u>\$6,925</u>
<u>Assistant Principal</u>	<u>7,8,9</u>			<u>\$4,124</u>
<u>Executive Principal</u>	<u>10</u>			<u>\$3,489</u>
<u>Assistant Director</u>	<u>11</u>			<u>\$2,406</u>
<u>Director</u>	<u>12</u>			<u>\$3,489</u>
<u>Executive/Senior Director</u>	<u>13</u>			<u>\$3,489</u>
<u>Administrative Intern</u>	<u>14,15</u>			<u>\$2,405</u>
<u>Resident/Associate Principal</u>	<u>16</u>			<u>\$3,723</u>
<u>Dean</u>	<u>17,18</u>			<u>\$3,621</u>
<u>Executive AP (12 month)</u>	<u>19</u>			<u>\$4,375</u>

Administrators responsible for grades 9, 10, 11 or 12 shall be considered in the 9-12 category for salary purposes.

~~There shall be a 2.50% general wage increase effective July 1, 2021. There shall be movement within the range (range adjustment) for those who have not reached maximum (not to exceed maximum) and step movement for Resident and Associate Principals.~~

~~* There are 213 day and 12 month positions.~~

~~** Dean shall include 187 day deans and grandfathered deans working a 212 day work year. 1.50% general wage increase effective July 1, 2023. There shall be movement within the range (range adjustment) for those who have not reached maximum (not to exceed maximum) and step movement for Resident and Associate Principals.~~

* There are 213 day and 12 month positions.

** Dean shall include 187 day deans and grandfathered deans working a 212 day work year.

APPENDIX B

1. Insurance

The Board shall offer the following insurance benefits to members of the bargaining unit and shall pay the premium for individual and family coverage except as otherwise noted:

a. High Deductible Health Plan with a Health Savings Account (“HSA”)

Members shall contribute the following percentages toward the annual premium or fully insured premium equivalent costs for individual or family coverage on the HDHP with HSA:

~~2019-2020: 19%~~

~~2020-2021: 19%~~

~~2021-2022: 20%~~

2022-2023: 19.5%

2023-2024: 20.0%

2024-2025: 20.5%

Member contributions will not exceed 4% over the allocation rates.

In-Network services shall be subject to a \$2,000 deductible for an individual plan and \$4,000 per family. The plan pays 100% in network services after the deductible, except for prescription drugs (Rx).

Out-of-Network services shall be subject to a 20% coinsurance for an individual plan up to a yearly maximum of \$2,000 individual and \$4,000 per family. Out of network out of pocket maximum is \$4,000 per individual and \$8,000 per family (including the deductible).

Upon reaching the deductibles, there shall be a Rx co-payment applied as follows:

Generic: \$5

Brand (formulary): \$15

Brand (non-formulary): \$30

Up to an out of pocket maximum of \$1,000 per individual and \$2,000 per family.

The Board shall contribute fifty percent (50%) of the applicable HSA deductible amount. The Board's contribution toward the HSA deductible will be deposited into the HSA accounts in two equal installments each year, the first during the week of July 1 each year and the second during the week of January 1 each year. The Board's contribution will be pro-rated for members hired after July 1st in any year.

The parties acknowledge that the Board's contribution toward the funding of the HSA plan is not an element of the underlying insurance plan, but rather relates to the manner in which the deductible shall be funded for active employees. The Board shall have no obligation to fund any portion of the HSA deductible for individuals upon their separation from employment or departure from the Union.

Any member who is enrolled in Medicare or actively receiving federal veteran health benefits may not participate in the HSA and must participate in a health retirement account (HRA).

- b. Dental plan is subject to premium cost share as follows:

~~2019-2020: 19%~~

~~2020-2021: 19%~~

~~2021-2022: 20~~

2022-2023: 19.5%

2023-2024: 20.0%

2024-2025: 20.5%

- c. HPSA agrees that any portion of the health, dental, or prescription drug plan may be self-insured or insured at the sole discretion of the Board. This provision shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. Further, the Board has the discretion to change the Pharmacy Benefits Manager to use the State vendor.
- d. Group Life Insurance equal to two times the unit member's salary.
- e. The Board reserves the right to study alternative health insurance plans with different carriers excluding self-insurance. The Board reserves the right to change insurance carriers on health insurance provided the following steps occur:
 - 1. The plan suggested as an alternate must contain benefits, which are substantially equivalent when considered as a whole.

2. The HPSA shall have an opportunity to study the proposed plan for a period of sixty (60) working days.
3. If at the end of the aforementioned sixty (60) working days there is a disagreement between the parties on whether or not the plan offers substantially equivalent coverage, benefits, portability and administration as the present plan, when considered as a whole, then the issue will be sent to a mutually selected arbitrator. If the parties are unable to agree on an arbitrator, the American Arbitration Association shall be requested to appoint an arbitrator with expertise in the health insurance field in accordance with its rules and regulations. The decision of the arbitrator shall be binding on the parties. If the arbitrator rules that the Board's proposed alternate carrier meets the criteria outlined in G.1 and the Board changes carriers, the standards outlined in G.1 must be maintained during the life of the contract. The HPSA shall retain the right to ask the arbitrator to reinstate the original carrier if the standards outlined in G.1 are not maintained.
4. The Board may propose an alternate health insurance plan only one (1) time during the life of the contract.

2. Laid-off Employees, Retirees, and Survivors

Employees who are terminated or not renewed due to layoff and their spouses and their eligible dependents shall be entitled to group medical insurance benefits as noted above at their own expense to the extent provided for by the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act ("COBRA") and in accordance with the terms of the insurance carriers.

Legally dependent survivors (including spouse) of employees or bargaining unit members who had been active employees at the time of death, shall be permitted to purchase health insurance benefits as noted above at group rates at their own expense, subject to the insurance carrier's making such rates available and subject, in general, to the terms and conditions of the insurance carriers.

Retirees, eligible for retirement under Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-183f(c), and their legally dependent survivors (including spouse) shall be entitled to purchase group insurance benefits at the same rate as current working employees subject to the insurance carrier's making such rates available and subject, in general, to the terms and conditions of the respective carriers.

In order to take Major Medical Insurance, the applicant must complete an enrollment card and must provide satisfactory evidence of insurability to the insurance company at the applicant's own expense.

The payment for any of the above plans must be made each month in advance. When payments on hand are exhausted, the coverage will be canceled.

A current address must be on file in the Office of Talent Management at all times.

3. Employees Called to Military Service

Where a member is called to military service, for the first 18 months of such leave (or the period covered by COBRA), the member's family shall continue to be covered by health insurance if such coverage was in place prior to the military leave. Such family members will be required to submit the member's portion of the insurance cost (the premium cost share). Failure to timely submit payment shall be considered a waiver of such coverage. This provision shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

4. Sick Leave

Bargaining unit members shall be entitled to sick leave as follows:

- a. Schedule B (eleven-month employees) (e.g. Assistant Principals, Assistant Directors and Administrative Interns) twenty-two (22) days annually.
- b. Schedule C (twelve-month employees) (Executive Assistant Principals, Principals, Directors, Executive Principals and Executive/Senior Directors) twenty-four (24) days annually.
- c. Schedule A (ten month employees) (Deans 187 days) twenty (20) days annually.
- d. Bargaining unit members hired after June 30, 2002, shall be entitled to accumulate sick leave days up to the number of days in the individual administrator's work year. A unit member hired prior to July 1, 2002 shall be entitled to a maximum of the number of days he or she had accumulated in his/her sick leave account as of January 30, 2008.
- e. Sick leave bank for administrators

1. All members of the bargaining unit shall become participants in the sick leave bank by contributing three days from his/her

accumulated sick leave. At any time the total number of days in the bank drops below 300, each bargaining unit member shall deposit into the bank 3 days.

2. Upon exhaustion of accumulated sick leave any administrator covered by this Agreement may apply to the sick leave bank committee as hereinafter provided for a withdrawal of days.
3. A sick leave bank committee consisting of two (2) members appointed by the Superintendent and two (2) members appointed by the President of the Union will be established. The sick leave bank committee will review all applicants desiring to withdraw days from the bank. The decision of the committee shall be final. Applications to the committee shall be in writing and accompanied by a physician's statement describing the illness and prognosis for a date of return to work.
4. An employee who exhausts all full pay accumulated sick leave may be granted up to thirty (30) school days by the committee in response to written application. Payment for such days shall begin only after a waiting period of ten (10) school days has elapsed after full pay accumulation has been used.
5. If, after the original withdrawal authorized by the committee, the employee is unable to return to duty, he/she may submit to the committee an application for an additional withdrawal of up to twenty (20) school days with such additional days to commence five (5) school days following expiration of the first withdrawal.
6. The first and second application must be accompanied by a physician's statement describing the illness and prognosis for a date of return to work. Thereafter, any part-pay accumulation as described in Appendix B to which the employee is entitled shall be implemented.
7. The Sick Leave Bank Committee shall have the discretion, but be under no obligation to authorize additional days from the bank to employees in cases of extended disability and/or personal hardship.
8. The Sick Leave Bank Committee shall be authorized to amend these ground rules and to promulgate such additional rules and

regulations as may be necessary to administer the Sick Leave Bank in the best interest of the Board and the employees participating herein. Such rules and/or amendments shall be submitted to the Union Executive Board and the Board of Education for ratification.

9. The Sick Leave Bank Committee shall have the authority to require a second opinion by a physician designated by the committee. The cost of such opinion is to be borne by the employee.

f. Extension of Sick Leave

An employee with five (5) years or more service under regular appointment who exhausts all sick leave opportunities under this contract, may request the Board for an extension of sick leave on a part salary basis.

- g. Any administrator who becomes aware that he/she will need to be absent due to a scheduled or planned surgery or other medical procedure shall so notify the Superintendent of his/her designee as soon as practicable.

5. Longevity Payments & Residency Incentive

- A. Members of the unit shall receive longevity payments as follows for continuous years of service. Longevity payments shall be made no later than June 30th for the current year.

- | | | |
|----|-------------------------|---------|
| a. | Between 14 and 18 years | \$ 850 |
| b. | Between 19 and 23 years | \$1,800 |
| c. | For 24 or more years | \$2,500 |

Only bargaining unit members hired into the unit on or before June 30, 1999 shall be eligible to receive longevity payments. Such payments shall be contingent upon the administrator receiving an evaluation of satisfactory or better.

B. Hartford Residency

Any member who lives in the City of Hartford shall be eligible for a 3% differential based on his/her base salary. Hartford must be the member's primary residence. To demonstrate residency, the member must produce to the Executive Director of Human Resources or his/her designee, with a request for the residency differential, any three of the

following documents that show evidence of Hartford residency: utility bill, car insurance, lease, property tax bill, voter registration card, drivers' license. The differential shall become effective within 30 days of receipt of appropriate documentation and request and shall cease each June 30th. Such evidence must be provided upon request and/or on an annual basis. The Board may discontinue such differential upon belief of fraud. Failure to communicate in writing regarding a change in residency or any deception regarding primary residence shall be viewed as insubordination/moral misconduct.

C. This Section shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

6. Severance Pay Plan

Upon retirement or death, calculation of severance pay shall be made by applying the following formula:

"Retirement" shall mean that an employee has retired from employment as an administrator or teacher as provided under the state retirement system and is in fact collecting retirement benefits pursuant to said system.

A. Formula: The total accumulation of all allotted full pay sick days up to the member's work year multiplied by a factor of twenty percent (20%). However, any member whose accumulated full pay sick days, as of June 30, 2005, exceeds his/her work year, shall be entitled to use up to the amount accrued as of June 30, 2005 multiplied by a factor of twenty percent (20%), when the member retires.

Severance pay may be taken in one, two or three equal annual payments, notice shall be given in accordance with Section C below. The product shall be the number of days for which payment shall be made at the current per diem rate. No credit shall be given for the period during which an employee was in military service.

B. Regulations Applying to Severance

To be eligible for severance pay, employees who plan to retire from April 1 through June 30 of any year must give at least 90 days prior notice of their definite intention to retire. Employees who plan to retire at any other time of the year must give at least 60 days notice. If such notice is submitted in July or August, the 60 days provision shall be in effect from August 1 except when an adequate substitute or qualified replacement is available in which case the retirement date by mutual agreement becomes effective on the day when the substitute or

replacement can begin work. In all cases, severance pay shall be due the employee on the date of retirement or on the first payroll date thereafter. These notice requirements shall not be applicable to employees who die or become disabled in such a way as to force their retirement.

7. Course Reimbursement

- A. The Board desires to encourage the professional improvement of its employees in areas directly related to their employment. Administrators who have completed one year of satisfactory service in the Hartford Public Schools and have successfully completed the semester course shall be eligible for tuition reimbursement of up to \$500 per credit, up to a maximum of six (6) credits per year. Courses shall be eligible for reimbursement only during the school year in which the administrator took the course(s). Administrators must submit any course for reimbursement within three months of receipt of the final grade, or the claim for reimbursement shall be waived. For purposes of this article, successful completion means, at a minimum, receipt of a B or a Pass for the completed course work.

Document comparison by Workshare Compare on Tuesday, December 28, 2021
12:54:22 PM

Input:	
Document 1 ID	iManage://SGDMS/SG/10686362/1
Description	#10686362v1<SG> - Hartford BOE Administrators Contract 2019-2022
Document 2 ID	iManage://SGDMS/SG/10686362/2
Description	#10686362v2<SG> - Hartford BOE Administrators Contract 2022-2025
Rendering set	Standard

Legend:	
<u>Insertion</u>	
Deletion	
Moved from	
<u>Moved to</u>	
Style change	
Format change	
Moved deletion	
Inserted cell	
Deleted cell	
Moved cell	
Split/Merged cell	
Padding cell	

Statistics:	
	Count
Insertions	185
Deletions	166
Moved from	10
Moved to	10
Style changes	0
Format changes	0
Total changes	371

